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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

Notice of Annual 
General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the 2014 Annual General Meeting of the members of the Company will be held at 
Jamaican Teas Limited Head Office, 2 Bell Road, Kingston 11, on Wednesday, 28th May 2014 at 3:00 p.m. for 
the purpose of transacting the following business:

1.	 To receive the Reports of the Directors and the Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 
September 30, 2013 together with the Auditors’ Report thereon.

2.	 To declare the interim dividend of five cents (0.05¢) per share paid on March 28, 2013, as a final 
dividend out of profits for the year ending September 2013.

3.	 To elect Directors:

i)	 John Mahfood retires by rotation as a Director in accordance with Article 111 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association being eligible John Mahfood offers himself for re-
election.

ii)	 John Jackson retires by rotation as a Director in accordance with Article 111 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association being eligible John Jackson offers himself for re-
election.

	 b) To consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolution:

i)	 “That John Mahfood, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 111 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association, be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

ii)	 “That John Jackson, who is retiring by rotation in accordance with Article 111 of the 
Company’s Articles of Association, be and is hereby re-elected a Director of the Company.”

4.	 To approve the remuneration of the Directors:

•	 To consider, and if thought fit, pass the following resolution:

	 “That the amount shown in the Audited Accounts for the year ended September 30, 2013 
as fees to the Directors for services as Directors, be and is hereby approved.”

5.	 To reappoint BDO as Auditors of the Company and to authorize the Directors to fix the remuneration of 
the Auditors.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

……………………………………………..
Tanisha Samuels 
SECRETARY
Dated this March 27th, 2014 
*Please see proxy and notes thereto
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Adeeb Mahfood
(January 1, 1926- September 21, 2013). 
Late Chairman

We salute your 
Altruism, 
Quest for Knowlegdge 
& Growth

Honesty & Integrity

We salute your 
Altruism, 
Quest for Knowlegdge 
& Growth

Honesty & Integrity
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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ 
REPORT

The Directors are pleased to report on the progress 
and achievements during the 2013 financial year. 
Following on the decision to go public in 2010, we 
have seen a number of benefits to the company as a 
result.

Our Annual General Meeting is scheduled for 28th, 
May 2014 and we encourage all our shareholders to 
attend.

During the year we lost our Chairman, Adeeb 
Mahfood who served with distinction in that capacity 
until his passing in 2013. 

Achievements in 2013

We surpassed the $1 billion mark in revenues for 
the first time. We ventured into a new area of real 
estate development and successfully completed 
the Kingsway apartment complex and sold all units. 
This success has encouraged us to undertake other 
developments of a similar nature and this is likely 
to become another important profit centre for the 
group.

We are close to achieving another target, that of 
having the exports exceed local sales from the 
manufacturing operations. During the financial year 
exports amounted to 51 percent of Jamaican Teas 
sales.  

While we succeeded in most areas including our 
Kingston supermarket, it is our view that tightness 
in the economy in the western end of the island and 
devaluation of the local currency have somewhat 
sapped purchasing power and increased cost in 
certain areas preventing the Savanna la Mar and 
Montego Bay supermarkets from moving into 
profitability. We however saw increased sales in both 
places.  

The year saw the need for additional capital as 

we embarked on new ventures and funded the 
acquisition of our new factory. Bank loans were 
used to assist with the financing of the Kingsway 
development but this was fully repaid during the 
calendar year. 

One of the benefits of listing is the opportunity 
opened for us, accordingly, we decided to embark 
on a public bond issue to help fund our current real 
estate development. We also accessed funds to 
assist in the acquisition of our new home which we 
will occupy by April 2014. 

Investments

Even as we borrow, we hold a strong portfolio of 
investments that is expected to generate good 
returns in the future. We will continue to manage this 
area which is an important one to generate profits. 

We continue to invest in our brands as well as add 
new products to the line-up for future growth, part 
of the investments is in our marketing spend and 
exposure elsewhere. We recognise that the listing 
of our shares is one element of the brand building 
programme.

Junior Market

The Jamaica Stock Exchange has played an 
important role in mobilising capital and increasing 
the ownership of a number of companies. The Junior 
Market of the Exchange has facilitated the listing of 
24 securities so far since it started in 2009, while the 
number of companies on the main exchange has 
declined from around 50 to some 30 companies. 
The listings of the Junior Market have provided an 
opportunity for the companies to diversify ownership 
and original owners to diversify their investment.
We have seen most of the companies use the funds 
raised in the IPO, along with other capital, to invest
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 in expansion and machinery. We must express 
our disappointment that the encouragement that 
allowed the majority of the companies, including our 
group to acquire new machineries and or facilities 
that have enhanced production and productivity, will 
be removed by 2021. There is enough time for the 
authorities to reconsider this move and restore the 
benefit to encourage greater democratisation of the 
ownership of the corporate sector.

We thank the management and staff for their 
dedication and services during the year.  

In keeping with the Company’s Articles of 
Association, directors, John Mahfood and 

John Jackson will retire by rotation and being 
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Dividend

The board took the decision not to pay more than 
one dividend for the year as we embark on projects 
that require high levels of funding. We will continue 
to monitor the situation and will consider a payment 
when it is deemed warranted.

___________			   ____________

John Jackson			   John Mahfood

Director				   CEO/Director
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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ 
PROFILES

Chief Executive Officer
John Mahfood is responsible for 
developing and implementing 
guidelines, internal controls and 
human resource procedures. 
He is experienced in local and 
international retail and trading, 
as well as mergers, expansions  
and turnarounds, having served 
in those capacities in several 
corporate entities. He is a Certified 
Public Accountant and a fellow 
of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.

Marcos Dabdoub is a Non 
Executive Director with over four 
decades of experience in sales 
and distribution. He is Managing 
Director of Amalgamated 
Distributors Limited, the company’s 
exclusive Jamaican distributor of 
its Tetley and Caribbean Dreams 
product lines. He is a member of 
the Compensation Committee of 
the board. 

Duncan Davidson is a Non 
Executive Director. He is a 
Business Consultant with years 
of experience in supermarket 
operations; hardware, shipping and 
the port and maritime industries. 
He worked in Canada for a number 
of years. He is the holder of a 
Diploma in Mechanical Engineering 
(Ryerson University, Toronto 1971).

John Jackson is a Non Executive 
Director and Mentor to the board. 
He is a Chartered Accountant 
and Financial Analyst. As Mentor, 
he is responsible for advising on 
adequate procedures, systems 
and controls for financial reporting 
and corporate governance, as 
is required under the Junior 
Market Rules. He is experienced 
in financial services, auditing, 
taxation, sugar, hotels and 
investing. He chairs the Finance, 
Audit and Marketing Committee. 

Suzette Smellie-Tomlinson is a Non 
Executive Director with nineteen 
years’ experience in various industries, 
including financial (banking and 

insurance), retail and distribution; 
media; education; cold storage 
and shipping, among others. 

She has served at senior level 
with several corporate entities 
including: Scotiabank, AIC 
Limited, National Commercial 
Bank Jamaica Limited and 
Supreme Ventures Limited, 
among others.

She holds an MBA (Finance, 
Marketing), Manchester Business 
School & University of Wales, and 

a BSc. Economics & Management, 
University of the West Indies Jamaica.
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MANAGEMENT 
TEAM

Chief Accountant
Oliver Goldsmith joined the group 
in 1998 from Grace Kennedy 
Limited where he held the position 
of Accountant.  He oversees the 
accounting and financial operation of 
the group.

Factory Manager
Norman Russell joined the group 
in 1995 from Beric Battery Factory 
where he held the position of Factory 
Supervisor. He is responsible for all 
aspects of the company’s factory 
and warehouse operations.

Administrative 
Manager/ Company Secretary
Tanisha Samuels Certified Profes-
sional Secretary joined the company 
in 2001. She supports the CEO in the 
day to day operations of  the group, 
and oversees the for the companies 
legal secretarial functions.

Marketing Manager
Jonathan Mahfood is responsible 
for developing and maintaining 
marketing, advertising and sales 
strategies to meet agreed company 
objectives. He holds a BA in 
International Hospitality & Tourism 
Management from St. Leo University, 
Florida.

Supermarket Managers 

Kingston, Shoppers Delight 	      		   - 	 Rohan Johnson
Montego Bay, Bay West 	                 	  - 	 Euwart Jackson
Savanna la Mar, Shoppers Delight 		   - 	 Omar Duval

Chief Executive Officer
John Mahfood is responsibile for 
the overall planning, management 
and running of the operations of the 
group.

Operations Manager
Marlon Robinson joined the group 
in 2012. He oversees supermarket 
operations.  He also assists the CEO 
in the acquisition of new businesses 
among other responsibilities. 
He holds a BSc in Economics & 
Management Studies and an MBA 
in General Management from the 
University of the West Indies, Mona.
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The Management Discussion and Analysis, (MD&A), 
is presented to enable shareholders and the public 
to evaluate the operational results of the group for 
the financial year to September 2013. The MD&A 
also serves to clarify some of the information re-
ported in our Financial Statements, and to share the 
group’s prospects and plans.

The Group

The group includes Jamaican Teas Limited 
with its Tetley and Caribbean Dreams brands, 
H. Mahfood and Sons Limited, our real 
estate development arm, which also owns 
real estate in Kingston,  and JRG Shoppers’ 
Delite Limited, which operates a supermarket 
in Kingston and another in Savanna-La-Mar, 
Westmoreland and Bay City Foods Limited, 
a 49 percent owned associated company, 
operators of a supermarket in Montego Bay. 

New Product Development

Our focus is to develop new products in the 
hot beverage category and some food items 
that are both healthy and tasty and which will 
help to drive our export thrust. With this in 
mind, we developed Instant Honey Ginger, 

100% Jamaican Ginger, Refreshing Mint and Instant 
Chocolate in cans during the year.

We also received special requests from our overseas 
customers to source or develop products that fill 
a need in their market. In some cases we source 
third party Jamaican products such as Blue Soap 

Management 
Discussion 
and Analysis
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For the first time revenues exceeded 
$1 billion against the background of 
a continuing weakness of the local 
economy



and Carbolic soap and consolidate these with our 
products. In other cases, we contract with other 
manufacturers to produce these items under our 
brand. During 2013 we added Ackees, Cock Soup 
and Canned Coconut Milk under our Caribbean 
Dreams label.

Passing of our Chairman, Adeeb Mahfood

Adeeb passed away in September 2013, after suf-
fering many years of illness. He contributed greatly 
to the growth of the business from its inception and 
maintained a keen interest in the operations 
until his passing. His personal attributes that 
helped him succeed and to which we aspire 
include:

-	 Quest for knowledge and self growth.

-	 Honesty and integrity in all your dealings.

-	 Put family above self.

-	 Put 100 percent effort in everything that 
you do.

-	 There is always a solution to every prob-
lem, so  never give up searching for it.

Time may diminish our memories of loved 
ones after their passing, but the attributes 
that he displayed will live on within us and be 
the foundation on which we manage the busi-
ness in the future.

New Factory Building

We purchased a factory building at 2 Bell Road in 
Kingston, to house the manufacturing operations.
The cost of the building along with planned improve-
ments are estimated at $140 million.The new facility 
will allow us to contain all our manufacturing opera-
tions in one location as compared to our present 
arrangement of multiple sites and will allow for 
future expansion as the need arises. The purchase 
was partially financed with a loan from Bank of 
Nova Scotia at an initial interest rate of 8.5 percent. 
We expect to be in occupancy during the second 
quarter of fiscal 2014, at which time we will see the 
benefits in terms of increased efficiency and reduc-
tion in expenses.

Increase in Export Earnings 

Our export earnings increased by 46 percent to 
$293 million and accounted for 51 percent of total 
sales from manufacturing operations. This increase 

is in keeping with our long term strategy to focus 
attention on export sales. We believe that growth 
for the long term is based on increased business 
in exports because the economy of Jamaica is too 
small to form the basis for consistent robust growth, 
based on the size of the market we now control. 
This strategy is more costly in terms of marketing 
and our export prices have to be very competitive, 
margins on our exports are lower than local sales. 
Approximately fifty percent of our export sales is to 
the Caribbean market, while the other fifty percent 
is to North America. Our major growth markets are 

Trinidad and Florida.

Real Estate 
Development -Kingsway

We completed our first real estate development dur-
ing the year with the our 18 super studio apartment-
complex at 12A Kingsway Avenue in Kingston. Our 
decision to keep our first project small and simple 
was correct and while we made a small profit on 
the project, we also gained considerable experience 
which will bode well for the future.

Various government bureaucracies including the 
National Water Commission, (NWC), are very slow 
and this adds to the costs in terms of man power, 
interest and the impact of inflation on materials 
used. A significant cost relates to government taxes 
in the form of import duties on imported materials 
and General Consumption Tax, (GCT), on goods and 
services which have to be absorbed by the devel-
oper. The next is the cost of transfers including legal 
fees, sales commission and more government taxes 
which may total 12 percent of the selling price. 

Finally, the cost of bank financing adds significantly 
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to the cost of the development and may add another 
12 to 15 percent to the cost of the project.

Any government that is serious about making it 
possible for Jamaican people to own their own 
home, must look at these issues in order to bring the 
cost within reach of the people.

Real Estate Development -Orchid Estates, 
Yallahs, St Thomas

Our second development is an 11 acre property 
comprising 71 two bedroom 
houses on 4,000 square feet 

of land. The units will be attractively priced. The first 
phase of 30 houses will commence in the third quar-
ter of fiscal 2014 and should be completed and sold 
before the calendar year end. We believe that there 
is very strong demand for houses in this price range 
and expect that this will be a profitable development.

We also believe that the Yallahs area is ripe for 
housing development, as it is within 30 minutes 
drive to downtown Kingston and the road and bridge 
infrastructure is good.

New Processing Facility For Locally Grown 
Herbs

One of the major challenges that we have faced 

since we started operations is to obtain cleaned, 
dried and ground local herbs. Farmers are willing 
to supply green herbs, but there are no adequate 
facilities to clean, dry and grind the products. 

We have therefore partnered with two individuals 
to establish such a facility which is just getting off 
the ground. Initially, it is expected that the cost of 
the local products will be higher than the imported 
items, but it is anticipated that the local farmers will 
become more competitive in the future.

$100 Million Corporate Bond

We were successful in raising $100 million 
in the form of a four year corporate bond in 
October 2013.
The bond has been listed on the Junior 
Stock Exchange and pays interest monthly 

at the rate of 8.5% for the first 
two years. A part of the proceeds 
from the bond has been used to 
pay down short term debt and the 
remainder will be used to fund the 
Orchid Estates development.

Revenues Exceed $1 Billion

For the first time revenues 
exceeded the $1 billion mark from our 
manufacturing and retail operations. 
This was achieved against the 
background of a continuing weakness 
of the local economy due partially to 
fiscal and other measures introduced 
by the government and the central 
bank during the year. Sales from our 
manufacturing operations increased by 
25 percent to $577 million while sales 
from our retail business increased by 29 

percent to $466 million.

Our unit sales from manufacturing increased in 
both the domestic and export market and this was 
achieved as a result of both improved penetration 
and product diversification. Our two supermarkets 
improved in performance compared to the prior 
year in both sales and operating results. Our store 
in Savanna la Mar has not yet shown a profit since 
acquisition in early 2012 but we expect it to at least 
break even during 2014.

Associated Company

Our jointly owned supermarket in Montego Bay 
continues to show improvement in both sales and 
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bottom-line but has not shown a profit since our 
acquisition in 2010. Sales increased by 15 percent 
during the year which is commendable given the 
weak economy in Montego Bay, while expenses 
increased by less than 7 percent. We will continue 
to focus on strategies for growth while containing 
expenses during 2014.

Dividend

The company made a payment of 5 cents 

per share out of profits for the 
2013 fiscal year in March.

Profit and Expenses

The group achieved profit after tax of 
$93 million, an increase from $74.7 
million in 2012 and comprehensive 
income of $92.1 million versus $53.6 
million. The results reflect profit from sale of the real 
estate development, there was no income from real 
estate sale in 2012. Pretax profit which better reflect 
the performance for the year with an increase of 48 
percent, reached $99.2 million, versus $66.9 million 
in 2012. Note 11 of the Financial Statements show 
the change in taxation which resulted in reduced 
after tax profit increase. The associated company’s 
share of the profit seems to have worsened but 
the 2013 figure shows an adjustment to reflect the 
impact of a lower tax rate on deferred tax assets 
computed in the past, at a higher tax rate, as a result 
of a change in tax rate announced in 2013.

We also incurred losses on some of the investments 
that were sold amounting to $5.1 million, compared 
to profit of $9.6 million in 2012, which fully provided 
for a bond investment that was impaired. At 
the Balance Sheet date, there was no available 
information as to the net realisable value, if any, of 
this overseas investment. The amount provided for 
the year is $8.5 million. Gross profit margin declined 

from 30 percent or more before our listing in 2010, 
to under 20 percent in 2013. The reduction is due 
to the lower margins on our retail and real estate 
businesses. The margins on our manufacturing 
operations remain robust at 35 percent and is up 
from 34 percent in 2012.

Revenues  

We enjoyed a bouyant year of sales 
as indicated elsewhere in this report, 

achieving more than $1 billion, helped 
by Real Estate sales and export 
sales of coffee for a part of the 
financial year. We terminated the 

arrangement for the exportation 
of coffee in the second 
quarter of the financial year. 

Expenses  

We maintained a tight rein on expenses during the 
year, however devaluation of the local currency and 
attendant inflation helped to push some cost higher 
than the rate of inflation. We also paid more in loan 
interest as we borrowed more funds compared with 
2012. Repairs, maintenance and advertising rose 
above the rate of inflation, the latter was to increase 
our presence in a tight market. Labour cost increase 
is tied primarily to incentive-based payment to staff. 

Cash Flow 

Cash flow from operations amount to $123 million 
versus $78 million in 2012.  Increased receivables 
of $179 million is due mainly to amounts owing on 
the sale of the real estate development which was 
used up in the funds generated by operations. Loan 
proceeds net of loan repayment, provided the bulk of 
the funding of the operations. 
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Statement of Financial Position

At the end of the year shareholders equity rose to 
$586 million from $511 million from increased profits 
less dividend paid. In 2013, borrowed funds rose 
to $203 million from $103 million, the increase was 
used to help fund the first real estate development 
and to acquire additional 
property. Although the debt 
rose, the equity to debt ratio 
was still strong at 3 to 1, down 
from 5 to 1 in 2012. The bulk 
of the loans are in Jamaican 
dollars, with the only US 
loans at year end, amounting 
to J$40 million which will be 
fully repaid in 2013/14 fiscal 
year. The group’s investment 
and cash were just less than 
the loans. Subsequent to the year end 
and during the first quarter of 2014 
fiscal year all proceeds from the sale 
of the units were collected 
and the proceeds used 
to pay down short term 
loans acquired to fund the 
development.

The receivables increased 
due to funds not actually 
received from the real 
estate sale proceeds at 
year end and include 
$37.7 million deposited on 
properties being acquired 
and a short term loan receivable 
of $12 million.

Inventories

The accounting policy 
pertaining to inventories 
requires amounts for properties being developed 
for resale be carried as inventories. In 2013, $20 
million is so included and $60 million in 2012. The 
disposal of most of the units resulted in a reduction 
in the level of inventories. There was however some 
increase in the supermarket inventories and raw 
materials for the factory, due partially to inflationary 
factors.

Outlook
Our focus after the year end has been to get the factory 
ready for occupation, getting our marketing in the Florida 

area back on track with a change in distributorship and 
planning for the start of the Orchid estate development, 
among other activities. We will be fully housed in the 
factory by the end of April. 

So far in the new fiscal year, we have enjoyed varying 
degrees of success in our various businesses, as well 

as in the local and export markets. For our 
manufacturing operations, local sales are 
ahead of 2013 but exports are down due to 
two factors -the sale of coffee in the first 
half of 2013 which we mentioned above was 
discontinued, therefore this year’s figures 
do not include any coffee sales, while that 
of 2013 does. In addition, two shipments 
that should have been filled in March were 

shipped in April instead. Excluding 
coffee, exports are still ahead of 
2013.

We had planned to commence the 
building of Orchid but that will not 

get underway until early June, 
as such, it is unlikely that the 
current year will benefit from 
sales from this development.

We have been granted a 
cambio and money transfer 
license for our Savanna la Mar 

store and expect 
that this will have 
a beneficial effect 
on the results going 
forward. Certain 
actions have been 
decided with our 
Montego Bay 
supermarket, which 
we expect will 
reduce cost in this 
operation.

Certain duplicated cost as a result of the transition from 
our current location to the new one will be eliminated. 
We have also launched new products. The results for the 
six months are expected to be slightly down on that of 
2013, but we expect that by the end of the fiscal year our 
operating profit should be in line will with or slightly up 
on that of 2013.
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Historical Financial data
BALANCE SHEET 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

         
SHARES ISSUED ‘000  168,708  168,708  167,879  167,879  142,713  142,660  142,660  142,660  142,660 
$‘000
Shareholders' equity  586,937  511,403  471,561  392,146  267,667  200,037  172,723  138,482  111,330 

Long Term Liability  11,283  35,677  25,059  8,390  14,414  2,655  -    -    273 

Total Gearing  203,527  103,308  40,486  10,967  19,647  6,928  -    1,320  1,617 

Current Assets  510,153  298,146  214,375  206,819  236,888  130,087  97,934  80,979  60,770 

Current Liabilities  259,876  120,544  42,858  32,684  42,117  27,341  13,281  21,233  21,453 

Inventories  176,696  131,352  95,814  84,299  58,958  46,384  35,903  27,990  26,427 

Receivables  279,491  100,343  80,833  74,646  71,433  45,900  33,325  23,361  22,415 

Cash & Equivalent  47,069  1,217  24,066  17,466  5,913  37,734  28,705  29,408  11,433 

Investments  150,654  185,165  231,468  191,412  113,356  89,266  85,490  64,318  52,959 
PROFIT & LOSS 
Total Revenue  1,239,296  847,533  672,466  463,782  325,707  250,598  202,505  144,628  136,080 

% incr.over prior yr  45.26  26.03  45.00  42.39  29.97  23.75  40.02  6.28  N/A 

Pretax Profit  220,849  150,014  147,067  124,538  115,417  76,771  63,152  45,269  47,756 

Gross Profit  99,208  66,897  85,511  68,626  95,318  41,791  52,955  32,936  29,982 

% incr.over prior yr  48.30  (21.77)  24.60  (28.00)  128.08  (21.08)  60.78  9.85  N/A 

Aftertax Profit  93,256  74,749  82,232  58,102  72,498  28,418  39,276  25,643  19,991 

% incr.over prior yr  24.76  (9.10)  41.53  (19.86)  155.11  (27.65)  53.16  28.27  N/A 

IMPORTANT RATIOS
Equity to Debt ratio 2.88 4.95 11.65 35.76 13.62 28.87 N/A 104.91 68.85

Current Assets ratio 1.96 2.47 5.00 6.33 5.62 4.76 7.37 3.81 2.83

Return on equity 16.98 15.21 19.04 17.61 31.00 15.25 25.24 20.53 16.48

Revenues to Inventories 7.01 6.45 7.02 5.50 5.52 5.40 5.64 5.17 5.15

Revenues to Receivables 4.43 8.45 8.32 6.21 4.56 5.46 6.08 6.19 6.07

Gross Profit Margin 18% 18% 22% 27% 35% 31% 31% 31% 35%

Return on Assets 7% 8% 9% 7% 11% 7% 11% 9% 9%
Price Book Ratio 1.15 1.29 1.39 1.56 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Price Sales Ratio 0.54 0.78 0.97 1.32 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Cash/Invest Per Share 1.17 1.10 1.52 1.24 0.84 0.89 0.80 0.66 0.45

Net Asset Per Share 3.48 3.03 2.81 2.34 1.88 1.40 1.21 0.97 0.78

Earnings Per Share 0.55 0.44 0.50 0.39 0.51 0.20 0.28 0.18 0.14

Closing Stock Price 4.00 3.90 3.90 3.65 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

P.E .Ratio 7.27 8.86 7.80 9.36 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Note 1. Aftertax profit is net of minority interest.  

Note 2. The company split the number of shares into 5 units for each one previously held in 2009, accordingly the prior period shares 

and the earnings per share have been adjusted to reflect the change. 
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The Company is developing 18 studio apartments on property at 
12a Kingsway Avenue, Kingston 10.

The target market for the units is young professionals and will be com-
petitively priced.
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REAL ESTATE 
DEVELOPMENT 
PROJECTS

Carmen’s Court 
– a Resounding Success

The first real estate project brought to market by H Mahfood & Sons Limited, a subsidiary of Jamaican 
Teas Limited. The gated community on Kingsway offered 18 Super Studios of approx. 630 sq ft, with 
added features of private parking, a water tank and generator. Affordably priced at $10.5m to $11.9m.
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Shareholdings of Note 
as at September 30, 2013

                          	 Beneficial	 Direct
 	 Interest	 Holdings 
Directors’ Holdings

Adeeb and Violet Mahfood		  63,198,210
John Mahfood		  50,198,200
Marcos Dabdoub 		  200,000
Duncan Davidson		  10,000
John Jackson                  	  591,445	 NIL

Senior Management Holdings

Oliver Goldsmith 		  175,000
Tanisha Samuels		  125,000
Norman Russell		  150,000

Top 10 Shareholders

Adeeb Mahfood		  63,198,210 
John Mahfood 		   50,198,200 
Nancy Milne 		  9,996,260 
JCSD Trustee Services Ltd A/C 76579-02 		  4,550,076 
Bamboo Group Holdings Limited 		  2,479,850 
Mayberry Managed Clients Account		   2,383,836 
RBC Employees Pension Plan 		  2,000,000 
Apex Pharmacy		  1,470,616
SJLIC For ScotiaBridge Retirement Scheme		  1,549,770
NCB Insurance Co Ltd A/C Wt161		  1,249,929
NCB Insurance Co Ltd A/C Wt040 		  1,249,929

New Factory Building
2 Bell Road, Kingston, 

This new facility will allow us to contain all our manufacturing operations in one location.
Occupancy is scheduled for the third quarter of fiscal 2014. It is anticipated that this will 
result in increased efficiency and a reduction of expenses.
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Orchid Estate, Yallas, St Thomas
71 2 bdr houses @ 740 sq ft., Average lot size 4,000 sq ft. , 11 acre property

Attractively priced per unit. Phase 1 – 30 houses

Development Features:
Gated Community
ALU Sheeting roof
Steel exterior doors
Bathroom completed
Fitted Kitchen
UPVC French windows
6 ft wide porch
Huge lots for expansion
Subject to certified escalation by QS
Mortgage Financing available through NHT & JNBS

This is a planned Real Estate project.
(Pending approval by the Real Estate Board)

For more information call: 754 6842/470 5646
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Members of
Jamaican Teas Limited 

Report on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Jamaican Teas Limited and its subsidiaries and 
associate (‘the Group”) set out on pages 21 to 62, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 30 September 2013 and the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended and the accompanying statements of financial position of Jamaican Teas Limited standing alone as at 30 
September 2013 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and the Jamaican Companies Act. This responsibility includes: 
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
consistently applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditors consider internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal controls. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONT’D)

To the Members of
Jamaican Teas Limited 

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the Group’s and the Company’s 
financial position as at 30 September 2013, and of the financial performance, changes in  equity and cash flows 
of the Group and the Company for the year then ended, so far as it concerns the members of the company, in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Jamaican Companies 
Act.

Report on additional requirements of the Jamaican Companies Act

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and belief, were 
necessary for the purposes of our audit.  

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept and the financial statements are in agreement therewith, 
and give the information required by the Act, in the manner so required.

Chartered Accountants

6 January 2014
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						            Note		                  2013                  2012      
									                        $’000      	           $’000 

REVENUE		  6	 1,226,435	 824,532		
			 

COST OF SALES			   (1,005,586)	 (674,518)		
			 

GROSS PROFIT			   220,849	 150,014	
Other income		  7	        4,706	  16,637		

			 
			      225,555	 166,651		

	
ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES				  

Selling and marketing 			   24,005	 17,950	
Administrative expenses			        91,709	  78,518		

	
			   115,714	 96,468	
Exchange gain			   (       8,155)	 (   6,364)		

		
			       107,559	  90,104		

			 
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS			   117,996	 76,547	
Finance costs		  9	 (       7,643)	 (   1,289)	
Share of results of associated company		  16	 (     11,145)	 (   8,361)		

			 
PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION			   99,208	 66,897		

			 
Taxation		   11	 (       5,615)	    7,764		

			 
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR			        93,593	  74,661	

	
Net profit attributable to:
   Owners of Jamaican Teas Limited			   93,256	 74,749	
   Non-controlling interest			             337	 (       88)		

	
			        93,593	   74,661	

Earnings per stock unit for profit attributable to
 owners of the company during the period:

 Basic		       12	               $       0.55	 $    0.44	     	
 	     		                 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013
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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

						         			                   2013                  2012      
									                        $’000      	           $’000 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR			   93,593	 74,661

Other Comprehensive Income: 
Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss: 
  Unrealised valuation loss on financial instruments	  	 (  3,109)	 (13,961)
  Realised fair value gain transferred to the statement
   of income			     2,002	 (  7,197)	
				  
	
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR		  92,486	 53,503

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
  Owners of Jamaican Teas Limited			   92,149	       53,591
  Non-controlling interest			        337	 (     88)	

		  92,486	 53,503	
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION
30 SEPTEMBER 2013

						            Note		                 2013  	               2012  
									                       $’000    	            $’000    
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS:
  Property, plant and equipment	 14	 124,109	 125,701	
  Investment properties					      15	 54,227	 30,000	
  Investment in associate				    16	 14,700	 20,461	       
  Investments						       18	 150,654	 185,165	
  Deferred tax assets	 19	     4,678	    7,327				 
		  348,368	    368,654	
	
CURRENT ASSETS:
  Inventories						        20	 176,696	 191,580	
  Receivables						      21	 279,491	 100,343	
  Taxation recoverable		  6,897	 5,006	
  Cash and cash equivalents	 22	   47,069	    1,217				 
					     510,153	 298,146	

		   			  858,521	 666,800	  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CAPITAL AND RESERVES:
  Share capital					       	 23	 141,420	 141,420	
  Capital reserve	 24	 7,059	 7,059	
  Fair value reserve	 25	 (   7,057)	 (   5,950)	  
  Retained earnings	 445,515	 368,874	

	 586,937	 511,403	
  Non-controlling interest	       425	       176				 
	 587,362	 511,579		
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Long term liabilities	 26	   11,283	  35,677	
	          
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Payables	   27	 67,084	 51,913	
  Short term borrowings	 28	 192,244	 67,631	
  Taxation payable 		        548	           -     	
		      259,876	   119,544

		  858,521	 666,800			 

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 January 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

                                                                   		                                                           
John Mahfood       -    Chief Executive Officer                         John Jackson          -      Director     
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMEN OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

														           
	           			            	

	     					     Attributable to owners of the company         
								               Fair			           Non-
				               Share 	  Share    Capital     Value      Retained		    Controlling   Total
                                                Note     Capital  Premium  Reserve  Reserve   Earnings       Total      Interest    Equity     
				               $’000       $’000      $’000       $’000        $’000           $’000       $’000       $’000

Balance as at 1 October 2011	 137,643	 697	 7,059	 15,208	 310,954	 471,561	 264	 471,825

Issue of shares, net of transaction
 costs	 3,080	 -  	 -   	 -    	 -     	      3,080	 - 	 3,080

Dividends paid	 13	 -     	 -  	 -   	 -    	  ( 16,829)	 ( 16,829)	 - 	 ( 16,829)

Transfer of share premium	      697	 (697)  	 -   	 -    	 -     	 -    	 - 	 -     

Total comprehensive income	      -     	   -  	    -   	    (21,158)	  74,749	  53,591	 ( 88)	  53,503	

Balance as at 30 September 
 2012	 141,420	   -  	 7,059	 ( 5,950)	 368,874	 511,403	 176	 511,579

Dividends paid	 13	 -     	 -   	 -     	 -     	 (   8,435)	 (   8,435)	 - 	 (   8,435)	

Acquisition of additional
 shares in a subsidiary		  -     	 -    	 -     	 -     	 (   8,180)	 (   8,180)	   ( 88)	     (   8,268)

Total comprehensive income		       -     	   -   	  -     	 ( 1,107)	  93,256	  92,149	 337	  92,486

Balance as at 30 September 
 2013		  141,420	   -    	 7,059	 ( 7,057)	 445,515	 586,937	 425	 587,362
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

								                                     2013  	                2012 
									                        $’000    	             $’000
    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
     Net profit for the year	 93,593	 74,661	
     Adjustments for:	
        Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments	 5,126	 (  9,601)
	 Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets	 8,450	 9,332	      
          Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 (     568)	 (     297)	    
        Deferred taxation	  2,649     	 (  8,118)	        
        Income tax charge	 2,967	 355	  
        Net (gain)/loss on investment property   	 (  1,000)	 1,411	       
        Depreciation	  11,779	    9,988	

   Operating cash flows before movements in working capital	 122,996	 77,731		
		

   Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
       Inventories	 14,884	 ( 95,766)	
       Receivables	    	 (179,148)	 ( 19,510)	
       Payables	   15,171 	  24,531	
    Cash generated from operations	 (  26,097)	 ( 13,014)	   
       Tax paid	 (    4,310)	 (  2,179)		

		
  Net cash used in operating activities	 ( 30,407)	 ( 15,193)	

  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
      Net decrease in investments	     19,828	 25,058	
      Net decrease in investment on associate	 5,761	 1,049
      Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 	 3,530	 1,100	
      Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	 ( 13,149)	 (  83,936)	
      Investment is subsidiaries	 (   8,268)                   -     
      Acquisition of investment property	 ( 23,227)	       -     	

  Net cash used in investing activities	 ( 15,525)	 (  56,749)		
	
 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
       Issue of shares	 -    	 3,080	    
       Dividends paid	 (  8,435)	 ( 16,829)	
       Loan proceeds	 158,644	 76,840	    
       Loan repayment	 ( 58,425)	 ( 13,998)	

   Net cash provided by financing activities	  91,784	  49,093		
		
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	 45,852	 ( 22,849)	
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	     1,217	  24,066

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 22)		   47,069	 	    1,217			
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STATEMENT OF 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

	       Note   	                2013	                   2012      
									                       $’000      	            $’000 

TURNOVER		  6	 576,820	 459,180		
			 

COST OF SALES			   (427,422)	 (341,844)		
			 

GROSS PROFIT			   149,398	 117,336	
Other income		  7	   23,507	  28,604		

			 
			   172,905	 145,940		

	
Administrative and other expenses			   84,679	 72,193	   
Exchange gain			   ( 11,549)	 (    6,364)	

			    73,130	   65,829		
			 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS			   99,775	 80,111	

Finance costs		  9	 (   6,603)	 (        45)		
			 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION			   93,172	 80,066		
			 

Taxation		   11	       -    	    4,546		
			 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 			   93,172	 84,612	

Other Comprehensive Income: 
Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss:
  Unrealised valuation loss on financial instruments	 (  3,109)	 (13,961)
  Realised fair value gain/(loss) transferred to the
   statement of income		     2,002	 (   7,197)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 		   92,065	  63,454
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STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
30 SEPTEMBER 2013

	       Note   	                2013	                   2012      
									                       $’000      	            $’000 

TURNOVER		  6	 576,820	 459,180		
			 

COST OF SALES			   (427,422)	 (341,844)		
			 

GROSS PROFIT			   149,398	 117,336	
Other income		  7	   23,507	  28,604		

			 
			   172,905	 145,940		

	
Administrative and other expenses			   84,679	 72,193	   
Exchange gain			   ( 11,549)	 (    6,364)	

			    73,130	   65,829		
			 

PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS			   99,775	 80,111	

Finance costs		  9	 (   6,603)	 (        45)		
			 

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION			   93,172	 80,066		
			 

Taxation		   11	       -    	    4,546		
			 

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 			   93,172	 84,612	

Other Comprehensive Income: 
Items that will or may be reclassified to profit or loss:
  Unrealised valuation loss on financial instruments	 (  3,109)	 (13,961)
  Realised fair value gain/(loss) transferred to the
   statement of income		     2,002	 (   7,197)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 		   92,065	  63,454
	

				    			         Note		                 2013                  2012  
									                       $’000    	             $’000    
ASSETS
NON-CURRENT ASSETS :
  Property, plant and equipment	 14	 30,859	 29,358	
  Investment properties					      15	 31,000	 30,000	
  Investment in subsidiaries					     13,806	 5,538	
  Investment in associate				    16	 45,782	 40,398
  Investments						       18	 134,908	 169,419	  
  Due from subsidiaries					     17	 241,906	 147,745
								        498,261	 422,458

CURRENT ASSETS:
  Inventories						        20	 113,096	 95,775	
  Receivables						      21	 156,516	 94,266	
  Taxation recoverable						      6,611	 4,731	       
  Cash and cash equivalents				    22	   54,148	    6,528		
								        330,371	 201,300		
	  							    
								        828,632	 623,758	  

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
CAPITAL AND RESERVES:
  Share capital					       	 23	 141,420	 141,420	
  Fair value reserve	 25	 (   7,057)	 (   5,950)	
  Retained earnings	 483,469	 398,732
	 617,832	 534,202
	
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Long term liabilities	 26	       -    	  11,060

	
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
  Due to subsidiaries	 17	 26,259	 2,222      	
	  Payables	   27	 26,051	 22,460	
  Short term borrowings	 28	 158,490	  53,814	
		  210,800 	    78,496	  
		
		  828,632	 623,758
 	

Approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 6 January 2014 and signed on its behalf by:

                                                                   		                                                           
John Mahfood       -    Chief Executive Officer                         John Jackson          -      Director
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STATEMENT OF 

CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

				    	  Share         Share        Fair Value         Retained
			              Note	 Capital     Premium       Reserve          Earnings            Total
					       $’000          $’000            $’000               $’000               $’000

Balance at 1 October 2011	 137,643	 697	 15,208	 330,949	 484,497

Issue of shares, net of 
  transaction cost	 3,080	 -  	 -    	 -     	 3,080

Dividends paid	 13	 -     	 -    	 -    	 ( 16,829)	 ( 16,829)

Transfer of share premium		  697	 (697)	 -   	 -    	 -                                                                           

Total comprehensive income	      -     	    -  	 (21,158)	   84,612	  63,454

Balance at 30 September 2012	 141,420	 -	 ( 5,950)	 398,732	 534,202

Dividends paid	 13	 -     	 -  	 -   	 (   8,435)	 (   8,435)

Total comprehensive income	      -     	   -  	 ( 1,107)	  93,172	  92,065	
	
Balance at 30 September 2013	 141,420	   -  	 ( 7,057)	 483,469	 617,832
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STATEMENT OF 
CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2013

								                                    2013  	                2012 
									                           $    	                    $    
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
     Net profit for the year	 93,172	 84,612	
     Adjustments for:
        Loss/(gain) on disposal of investments	          5,126	 (  9,601)	           
        Impairment losses on available-for-sale financial asset	 8,450	 9,332	      
        Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment	 (      568)	 (     297)	      
        Deferred taxation	             -     	 ( 4,546)	
        Net (gain)/loss on investment property 	 (   1,000)	 1,411	      
        Depreciation	     5,776	   5,980	
	
   Operating cash flows before movements in working capital	 110,956	 86,891			 

	
   Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
       Inventories	 ( 17,321)	 (18,592)	
       Receivables	    	 ( 62,250)	 (16,176)	
       Related companies		 ( 70,124)	 (98,027)	
       Payables		      	     3,591	 10,760	  
       Taxation recoverable	 (   1,880)	 (  1,928)

Net cash used in operating activities	 ( 37,028)	 (37,072)	
			 
  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
      Investment in subsidiary	 (   8,268)                  -     
      Net decrease in investments	 19,828	 25,414	
      Investment in associate	      (   5,384)	 (  7,313)	
      Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment	 3,530	 1,100	
      Acquisition of property, plant and equipment	 ( 10,239)	 (11,505)	

  Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities	 (      533)	   7,696	

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
       Loan proceeds	     95,000	 38,713	
       Loan repayment	 (1,384)	 (14,325)	
       Share Issue	 -     	 3,080	       
       Dividends paid	 (   8,435)	  (16,829)	  
   
  Net cash provided by financing activities	  85,181	 10,639			 
	
INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS	 47,620	 (18,737)	     
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year	    6,528	 25,265	  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 22)		    54,148	     6,528		
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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

	
1.	 IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES:

Jamaican Teas Limited (the company) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica. The registered office of 
the company is Sagicor Complex, Block A2 Units, 7-9 Norman Road, Kingston CSO.    

	 The company was listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange on 3 July 2010.

	 The principal activities of the company, its subsidiaries and associated company are as follows: 

i.	 The importing of tea in bulk, packaging and the distribution of black and herbal teas.  The 
company also distributes other items such as, bottled water, coconut milk, and coffee.

ii.	 The operation of supermarkets.
iii.	 The rental and development of real estate properties.

2.	 FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY:

	 These financial statements are expressed in Jamaican dollars.  The Jamaican dollar is considered the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entities operate (“the functional currency’).

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are 
set out below.  These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. Where necessary prior year comparatives have been reclassified to conform to current years 
presentation.

	 (a)	 Basis of preparation -

	 These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations adopted by the International Accounting 
Standards Board, and have been prepared under the historical cost convention as modified by 
the revaluation of available-for-sale investment securities and investment properties.  They are 
also prepared in accordance with provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act.

		
	 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The area involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or area where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements is 
described below:
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

	 (a)	 Basis of preparation (cont’d) -

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Jamaica except for the parent company, Jamaican 
Teas Limited. Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes.  
The Group recognizes liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether 
additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in the reporting 
period. 

During the reporting period, certain new standards, amendments and interpretations became 
effective. Those considered relevant to the Group are as follows:

IAS 1, Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1

The amendment requires that items of other comprehensive income must be grouped together into 
two sections:

-	 Those that will or may be reclassified into profit or loss
-	 Those that will not

As the amendment only affects presentation, there is no effect on the Group’s financial position or 
performance.

IAS 12, Income Taxes 

Currently requires an entity to measure the deferred tax relating to an asset depending on whether 
the entity expects to recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale.  It can be difficult 
and subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or through sale when the asset is 
measured using the fair value model in IAS 40; “investment property.”  This amendment therefore 
introduces an exception to the existing principle for the measurement of deferred tax assets or 
liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value.  As a result of the amendments, SIC 
21, ‘Income taxes-recovery of revalued non-depreciable assets” will no longer apply to investment 
properties carried at fair value.  The amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining guidance 
previously contained in SIC 21, which was withdrawn.  There was no significant impact on the Group 
and Company.
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 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

	 (a)	 Basis of preparation (cont’d) -

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective.

At the date of authorization of these financial statements, there were certain new standards, 
amendments and interpretations to existing standards which were in issue but which were not yet 
effective. Those which are considered relevant to the Group’s operations are as follows:  

IAS 27, Separate Financial Statements, (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2013). The amended standard carries forward the existing accounting and disclosure requirements 
of IAS 27 (2008) for separate financial statements, with some minor clarifications. The requirements 
of IAS 28 (2008) and IAS 31 for separate financial statements have been incorporated into IAS 27. 
The Group is assessing the impact that the standard will have on the 2014 financial statements.

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015; 
previously 1 January 2013).  This standard specifies how an entity should classify and measure 
financial instruments, including some hybrid contracts.  It requires all financial assets to be classified 
on the basis of the entity’s business model for managing the financial and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial asset; initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset 
not at fair value through profit or loss, particular transaction costs; and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost or fair value.  These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification 
and measurement of financial assets compared with the requirements of IAS 39.  They apply a 
consistent approach to classifying financial assets and replace the four categories of financial assets 
in IAS 39, each of which had its classification criteria.  They also result in one impairment method, 
replacing the two impairment methods in IAS 39 that arise from the different classification categories. 
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.  The main change is 
that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change 
due to any entity’s own credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather that the income 
statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch.  There has been no significant change in 
the recognition and measurement of financial liabilities carried at amortised cost from what obtained 
under IAS 39.

IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013) builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining 
factor in whether an entity should be included within the consolidated financial statements.  The 
standard provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of control where this is difficult 
to assess.  IFRS 10 is not expected to have any impact on the Group’s financial statements as there 
would be no change in the entities that are consolidated under the new standard.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

	 (a)	 Basis of preparation (cont’d) -

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards that are not yet effective 
(cont’d).

IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).  
This standard replaces IAS 31, ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ and SIC-13, “Jointly Controlled Entities-
Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers’. The standard requires a party to a joint arrangement to 
determine the type of joint arrangement in which it is involved by assessing its rights and obligations 
arising from the arrangement.  

IFRS 12, ‘Disclosures of interests in other entities’ (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2013) includes the disclosure requirements for all forms of interest in other entities, including 
joint arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off statement of financial position 
vehicles.  The standard will likely result in expanded disclosure in the financial statements and the 
Group intends to adopt IFRS 12 no later than the accounting period beginning on or after 1 October 
2013.

IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013).  
It replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRS with a single source of 
fair value measurement guidance.  It defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair 
value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.  The company will apply the 
amended standard for accounting periods beginning 1 October 2013.

IAS 28 (revised 2012) (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) includes the 
requirements for joint ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounting following the issue of 
IFRS 11.

	 (b)   	 Basis of consolidation -

Where the company has the power, either directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating 
policies of another entity or business so as to obtain benefits from its activities, it is classified 
as a subsidiary.  The consolidated financial statements present the results of the company and 
its subsidiaries (“the Group”) as if they formed a single entity. Intercompany transactions and 
balances between Group companies are therefore eliminated in full.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results of business combinations using 
the purchase method.  In the statement of financial position, the acquiree’s identifiable assets, 
liabilities and contingent liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.  
The results of acquired operations are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income from the date of which control is obtained.  They are deconsolidated from the date control 
ceases.

The subsidiaries consolidated are as follows:-

			    H Mahfood & Sons Limited      – (100% owned)
JRG Shoppers Delite Limited   -  ( 90% owned) (80% owned in 2012)
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

	 (c)	 Associates –

Where the Group has the power to participate in (but not control) the financial and operating policy 
decisions of another entity, it is classified as an associate.  Associates are initially recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost.  Subsequently associates are accounted 
for using the equity method where the Group’s share of post-acquisition profits and losses is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of income and other comprehensive income, (except 
that losses in excess of the Group’s investment in the associate are not recognised unless there is 
an obligation to make good those losses).

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are recognised 
only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interest in the associate.  The investor’s share in the 
associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions is eliminated against the carrying 
value of the associate.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and included in the carrying 
amount of the associate.  Where there is objective evidence that the investment in an associate 
has been impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is tested for impairment in the same 
way as other non-financial assets.

 
The Group’s associated company, incorporated in Jamaica is Bay City Foods Limited. The Group 
has a 49% interest in the company.

	 (d)   	 Segment Reporting -

	 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision maker who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments has been identified as 
the Finance Committee that makes strategic decisions.

	 (e)	 Property, plant and equipment -

		  Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses.  Freehold land is not depreciated.

		  Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write off the cost of each asset to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives.  Annual rates are as follows:

				    Plant and equipment		  10%
				    Furniture and fixtures		  10%
				    Motor vehicles			   20%
				    Computers			   20%
				    Leasehold improvements - shorter of lease and useful lives

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed periodically for impairment. Where the carrying amount 
of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

	 (f)	 Inventories –

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost is determined as follows:

Raw materials	 -	 Purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis.

	 Finished goods (manufactured)	 -	 Cost of direct raw materials and labour. 

Finished goods (purchased)		  - valued at landed costs.

Housing units completed and development costs are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value.  

	 Net realisable value is the estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the
	 costs of completion and selling expenses.
	
	 Weighted average cost is used to determine the cost of ordinarily interchangeable items.

(g)	 Trade and other receivables - 

	 Trade receivables are carried at original invoice amounts less provision made for impairment 
losses. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms 
of receivables. Other receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses. 

(h) 	 Trade payables -

Trade payables are stated at amortised cost.

(i)	 Borrowings and borrowing costs -

Borrowings are recognised initially at the proceeds received, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost and any difference between proceeds and 
the redemption value is recognised in the profit and loss account over the period of the borrowings.  
Borrowing costs are recognised as expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(j)	 Share Capital -

Financial instruments issued by the Group are classified as equity only to the extent that they do 
not meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset.  

The Groups’ ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.

(k)	 Impairment -

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at each statement of financial position 
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs exceeds its recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

(l)	 Financial assets -

The Group classifies its financial assets in the categories loans and receivables and available-
for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and re-
evaluates this designation at every reporting date.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market.  They arise principally through the provision of goods 
and services to customers (e.g. trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of contractual 
monetary asset.  They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to their acquisition or issue, and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

The Group’s loans and receivables comprise trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents in 
the statement of financial position.  

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the statement of financial position at cost. For the 
purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank, in hand, 
deposits and short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, net of 
bank overdraft.

Available-for-sale financial assets

	 Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any other categories.  Changes in the fair value of financial assets classified 
as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.  These available-for-sale 
financial assets are classified as investments in the statement of financial position.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as 
available-for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised 
cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.  The translation 
differences on monetary securities are recognised in profit or loss; translation differences on non-
monetary securities are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available for 
sale are recognised in other comprehensive income.  When securities classified as available for 
sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment 
securities.

Interest on available-for-sale securities calculated using the effective interest method is recognised 
in the income statement as part of other income.  Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments 
are recognised in the income statement as part of other income when the Group’s right to receive 
payments is established.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

(m)   	 Foreign currency translation -

Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions.  At the year end date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rate ruling at that date.  Exchange differences arising 
from the settlement of transactions at rates different from those at the dates of the transactions 
and unrealized foreign exchange differences on unsettled foreign currency monetary assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Exchange differences on non-monetary financial assets are a component of the change in their fair 
value.  Depending on the classification of a non-monetary financial asset, exchange differences 
are either recognized in the statement of comprehensive income (applicable for financial assets fair 
valued through profit or loss), or within other comprehensive income if the non-monetary financial 
assets are equity instruments which are designated as fair valued through other comprehensive 
income.

 (n)	 Investment properties - 

	 The Group’s investment properties are revalued annually to open market value, with changes in 
the carrying value are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

(o)   	 Investments in subsidiaries -

			  Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost.

(p) 	 Taxation -

Taxation expense in the income statement comprises current and deferred tax charges. 

(i) 	 Current income taxes

Current income tax is the expected taxation payable on the taxable income for the year, 
using tax rates enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment to 
tax payable and tax losses in respect of previous years.

(ii) 	 Deferred income taxes

Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method, providing for temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based 
on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be 
realised.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D):

(q) 	 Revenue recognition -
	

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods 
and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities.  Revenue is shown net of General 
Consumption Tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

Revenue is recognised in the income statement when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs 
can be estimated reliably and there is no continuing management involvement with the goods.   
Revenue from the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or 
receivable, net of returns and allowances and discounts.

Provided the amount of revenue can be measured reliably and it is probable that the Group will 
receive any consideration, revenue for services is recognised in the period in which they are 
rendered.

Interest income is recognised in the income statement for all interest-bearing instruments on an 
accrual basis unless collectibility is doubtful.

(r)	 Leases -

Leases of property where the Group has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

As Lessor –

Rental income under operating leases is recognised in income on the straight line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease.

As Leasee –

Payments under operating leases are charged as an expense in the statement of income on the 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(s)	 Pension costs - 

	 The Group participates in a defined contribution plan whereby it pays contributions to a privately 
administered fund, the contributions are charged to the consolidated income statement in the year 
to which they relate and are included in staff costs.

	 (t)	 Dividends payable -

Dividends are recorded as a deduction from equity in the period in which they are approved.
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT: 

(a)	 Financial risk factors –
		

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments and its 
operations:  credit risk, liquidity risk, and market risk.  This note presents information about the 
Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group’s objectives, policies and processes 
for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.  Further quantitative 
disclosures are included throughout these financial statements.

The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of the Group’s risk management 
objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the 
authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the 
objectives and policies to the Chief Executive function.  The Board receives regular reports from 
the Chief Executive Officer through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place 
and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.  The Audit Committee also reviews 
the risk management policies and processes.  

The overall objective of the Board is to set polices that seek to reduce risk as far as possible 
without unduly affecting the Group’s competitiveness and flexibility.  Further details regarding 
these policies are set out below:

		  Principal financial instruments -

The principal financial instruments used by the Group, from which financial instrument risk arises, 
are as follows:

•	 Cash and cash equivalents
•	 Trade receivables 
•	 Trade and other payables
•	 Investments in quoted and unquoted equity securities 
•	 Corporate bonds
•	 Government bonds
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –
		
		 Principal financial instruments (cont’d) -

			  A summary of the financial instruments held by category is provided below:

The Group

	 Financial assets -
						             Loans and Receivables	     Available-for-sale

	 2013	 2012	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Cash and cash equivalents	 47,069	 1,217	 -     	 -    	          	      	
	 Trade receivables	 209,002	 71,912	 -     	 -    	          	      	
	 Government of Jamaica bonds	 -     	     -     	     59,977 	 60,012	
                       Corporate bonds	   -     	   -     	          -     	 28,422	
                       Equities	      -     	    -     	  90,677	  96,731		
		  256,071	 73,129	 150,654	 185,165	

Financial liabilities at amortised cost –
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	

                        Trade payables	 45,748	 35,697	  
                        Loans and borrowings	 203,527	 103,308	

                        Total financial liabilities	 249,275	 139,005	

The Company

Financial assets -
						               Loans and Receivables	      Available-for-sale

	 2013	 2012	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	      Cash and cash equivalents	 54,148	 6,528	 -    	 -    	      
                       Trade receivables	 102,885	 71,676	 -    	 -    	      
                       Government of Jamaica bonds	 -    	 -    	     59,977	 60,012	
                       Corporate bonds	 -    	 -    	     -    	 28,422	
                       Equities	       -    	      -    	  74,931	  80,985		
		  157,033	 78,204	 134,908	 169,419		

		  Financial liabilities at amortised cost –

	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	

                        Trade payables	 22,649	 7,971	  
                        Loans and borrowings	 158,490	 64,874		
                        
                         Total financial liabilities	 181,139	 72,845		
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –
		
		 Principal financial instruments (cont’d) -

			  A summary of the financial instruments held by category is provided below:

The Group

	 Financial assets -
						             Loans and Receivables	     Available-for-sale

	 2013	 2012	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Cash and cash equivalents	 47,069	 1,217	 -     	 -    	          	      	
	 Trade receivables	 209,002	 71,912	 -     	 -    	          	      	
	 Government of Jamaica bonds	 -     	     -     	     59,977 	 60,012	
                       Corporate bonds	   -     	   -     	          -     	 28,422	
                       Equities	      -     	    -     	  90,677	  96,731		
		  256,071	 73,129	 150,654	 185,165	

Financial liabilities at amortised cost –
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	

                        Trade payables	 45,748	 35,697	  
                        Loans and borrowings	 203,527	 103,308	

                        Total financial liabilities	 249,275	 139,005	

The Company

Financial assets -
						               Loans and Receivables	      Available-for-sale

	 2013	 2012	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	      Cash and cash equivalents	 54,148	 6,528	 -    	 -    	      
                       Trade receivables	 102,885	 71,676	 -    	 -    	      
                       Government of Jamaica bonds	 -    	 -    	     59,977	 60,012	
                       Corporate bonds	 -    	 -    	     -    	 28,422	
                       Equities	       -    	      -    	  74,931	  80,985		
		  157,033	 78,204	 134,908	 169,419		

		  Financial liabilities at amortised cost –

	 2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	

                        Trade payables	 22,649	 7,971	  
                        Loans and borrowings	 158,490	 64,874		
                        
                         Total financial liabilities	 181,139	 72,845		

4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(i)	 Credit risk -

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or a counterparty to a 
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Group is mainly exposed 
to credit risk from customers and investment activities.  The Group structures the levels 
of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to a 
single counterparty or groups of related counterparties.

	 Investments and cash and cash equivalents 

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by maintaining cash resources and investing 
mainly in liquid securities with counterparties that have high credit quality and Government 
of Jamaica Securities.  

	 Trade receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer. The credit policy states that each customer must be analysed individually 
for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and 
conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes bank references. 

The Board of Directors determines concentrations of credit risk by quarterly monitoring 
the creditworthiness of existing customers and through a monthly review of the trade 
receivables’ ageing analysis.

	
Credit limits for all customers are reviewed at least annually, against the customers’ 
payment history, assessment of customers’ credit risk and sales department information.

Further disclosures regarding trade receivables, which are neither past due nor impaired 
are provided in note 21.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is as follows:

The Group

			                   2013                  2012
			      						       $’000	                $’000
	                  	 Financial assets -

	                             Cash and cash equivalents	 47,069	 1,217	
	                             Trade receivables	 209,002	 71,912	
	                             Available-for-sale investments	 150,654	 185,165		
	
	                             
	 Total financial assets	 406,725	 258,294
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(i)	 Credit risk (cont’d) -

The Company

			                      2013                  2012
		       	                             $’000	                 $’000
	                  	 Financial assets -

           	 Cash and cash equivalents	 54,148	 6,528	
                                   	 Trade receivables	 102,885	 71,676	
                                  	 Available-for-sale investments	 134,908	 169,419	
	
                                       Total financial assets	 291,941	 247,623		
	

 (ii) 	 Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates 
and interest rates will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holding of financial 
instruments.  The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market 
risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily with respect to the United Sates dollar, Canadian dollar and Pound Sterling.  
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets 
and liabilities.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by ensuring that the net exposure in foreign 
assets and liabilities is kept to an acceptable level by monitoring currency positions.  The 
Group further manages this risk by maximising foreign currency earnings and holding 
foreign currency balances.

As at 30 September the Group had net foreign exposure as follows:

The Group and Company 
						                                 	       J$	
			    			        	                          Equivalent
						                                    2013                   2012

		       				      	                              $’000                  $’000
                              	 Net foreign currency financial assets/

 (liabilities) –
   United States dollars	 (568)	 (81,680)	
   Canadian dollars	 (131)	 (  9,740)	
   Pound sterling	 (747)	 (     514)	
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(ii) 	 Currency risk (cont’d)

Foreign currency sensitivity 

The following table indicate the currencies to which the Group and company had 
significant exposure on its monetary assets and liabilities and its forecast cash flows.  
The sensitivity analysis represents outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary 
items and adjusts their translation at the year-end for a 1% increase (2012 – 1%) and 
10% decrease (2012 – 1%) in foreign currency rates.  The sensitivity of the profit was 
as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of foreign denominated cash 
and deposits, instruments and payables. The analysis assumes that all the variables, in 
particular interest remain constant.

The Group and Company
				          Effect on                         Effect on
		              % Change    Profit	 % Change     Profit  
                                    in Currency    Before     in Currency     Before
                                           Rate       Taxation	      Rate        Taxation	  
			                         2013                                 2012
				             $’000		             $’000
Currency:
  USD	 +1%	 ( 6)	 +1%	 (81.7)   	
  GPB	 +1%	 ( 1)	 +1%     	 (   97)	   	  
  CAN	  +1%	 ( 7)	 +1%	 (     5)		

  USD	 -10%	 57	 -1%	 81.7   		
  GBP	 -10%	 13	 -1%	 97   	   
  CAN	 -10%	 75	 -1%	      5	



44

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 SEPTEMBER 2013

 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(iii)	 Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Floating rate instruments expose 
the Group to cash flow interest risk, whereas fixed interest rate instruments expose the 
Group to fair value interest risk.  

The Group’s interest rate risk policy requires it to manage interest rate risk by maintaining 
an appropriate mix of investments.  The policy also requires it to manage the maturities of 
interest bearing financial assets and interest bearing financial bearing liabilities. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from deposits and short-term instruments, investments, 
short term borrowings and long term liabilities.

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following tables indicate the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in basis points 
in interest rates with all other variables held constant, on the Group’s profit.  The analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates remain constant.

		             Change in        Effect on       Change in         Effect on
		           Basis Points         Profit         Basis Points         Profit
			     2013                 2013                  2012              2012
			    $’000	    	  $’000		   $’000	           $’000
	
	 -100	    961	 -100	 (757)	
	 +400	 (3,846)	 +100	 757		

(iv)	 Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Group’s management of working capital and the finance 
charges and principal repayments on its debt instruments.  It is the risk that the Group will 
encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet its 
liabilities when they become due.  To achieve this aim, it seeks to maintain cash balances 
(or agreed facilities) to meet expected requirements for a period of at least 45 days.  
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(iv)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The following table sets out the contractual maturities of financial liabilities:

The Group

							                  
				            	             Up to 3       3 to 12      1 to 2   
				        	             Months      Months     Years       Total
				           	               $’000         $’000        $’000       $’000

	 At 30 September 2013

	             Trade payables		    37,753	 7,995	 -   	 45,748
                                      Loans and borrowings		  126,283	 65,961	 11,283	 203,527

 	             Total		  164,036	 73,956	 11,283	 249,275

							             
				            	              Up to 3       3 to 12     1 to 2   
				            	              Months     Months     Years       Total
				                       	   $’000         $’000       $’000       $’000

					   
	 At 30 September 2012

                                      Trade payables		    35,697	       -    	    -    	 35,697
                                      Loans and borrowings		  43,236	 10,578	 49,494 	 103,308

 	             Total		  78,933	 10,578	 49,494 	 139,005
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

(iv)	 Liquidity risk (cont’d)

The Company
						                       
				             	               Up to 3      3 to 12     1 to 2   
				              		   Months     Months    Years       Total
				              		    $’000          $’000      $’000       $’000

	 At 30 September 2013

	             Trade and other payables		  20,213	 2,436	 -    	 22,649
                                      Loans and borrowings		  116,513	      41,977	    -    	 158,490	

 	             Total		  136,726	 44,413	    -    	 181,139

							           
				           		   Up to 3      3 to 12     1 to 2   
				         	               Months     Months    Years      Total
				            	                $’000         $’000       $’000      $’000

	 At 30 September 2012

	             Trade and other payables		  7,971	 -    	  -     	 7,971
                                      Loans and borrowings		  43,236	 10,578	 11,060	 64,874	

 	             Total		  51,207	 10,578	 11,060	 72,845

           (v)	 Capital Management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for stockholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders and to maintain optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.  
The Board of Directors monitors the return on capital, which the Group defines as net 
operating income, excluding non-recurring items, divided by total stockholders’ equity.  
The Board of Directors also monitors the level of dividends to stockholders.
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(a)	 Financial risk factors (cont’d) –

           (v)	 Capital Management (cont’d) 

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the debt to equity ratio.  This ratio is calculated 
as debt divided by owner’s equity.  Debt is calculated as total borrowings as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.  Owners’ equity is calculated as capital and 
reserves attributable to the company’s owners as shown in the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

The debt to equity ratio at 30 September based on these calculations were as follows:
							          2013		     2012
							         $’000		    $’000

            Total borrowing	 203,527	 103,308	

            Owners’ equity	 586,937	 511,403			
            	
            Debt to equity ratio	   34.7%	   20.2%		
	  

		  There were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital management during 
		  the year.

(b)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value –

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s and Company’s financial instruments 
held as at 30 September that, subsequent to initial recognition, are measured at fair value.  The 
financial instruments are grouped into levels 1 to 2 based on the degree to which the fair value is 
observed, as follows:

•	 Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active 
market for identical instrument;

•	 Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from  inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for the instrument, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).
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4.	 FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D):

(b)	 Financial instruments measured at fair value (cont’d) –

		 There were no transfers between the levels during the year.

		  The Group and Company
									             2013
							       _____________________________________			
	       			              			     Level 1	  Level 2	    Total
	                             $'000 	               $'000                 $'000

	             	Available-for-sale:				  
                           Quoted equities	 73,932	 -     	 73,932
                           Repurchase agreements	 -     	 -     	 -     
                           Government of Jamaica bonds	     -     	 59,977	  59,977

	 73,932	 59,977	 133,909

									              2012
							       _____________________________________			
	       			              			     Level 1	  Level 2	     Total
	         $'000 	              $'000	        $'000

Available-for-sale:				  
                           Quoted equities	 80,985	 -    	 80,985
                           Corporate bonds	 -     	 28,421	 28,421
                           Government of Jamaica bonds	     -     	 60,012	  60,012

	 80,985	 88,433	 169,418

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices 
at the statement of financial position date.  A market is regarded as active if quoted prices are 
readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or 
regulatory agency, and those prices represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions 
on an arm’s length basis.  The quoted market price used for financial assets is the current bid 
price.  These instruments are grouped in Level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments not traded in an active market is determined by using 
valuation techniques.  These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data 
where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates.  If all significant 
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits, accounts receivables, accounts 
payable, loans and Group companies’ balances approximates to their carrying values due to their 
relatively short-term nature.

The fair value of unquoted equities could not be reliably determined and are carried at cost.
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5. 	 BUSINESS SEGMENTS:

	 The Group has three reportable segments:

•	 Manufacturing company – this incorporates the packaging and the distribution of teas and other 
consumable items and accounts for the largest proportion of the Group’s business generating 
47% of its external revenue.

•	 Retailing companies – this segment is involved in the operation of supermarkets and contributed 
38% of the Group’s external revenue.  

•	 Rental and development – this segment rents and develops properties and contributed 15% of the 
Group’s external revenue.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and are managed 
separately. 

                                        2013                              	
                                                Rental & 

                                                                    	   Manufacturing     Retailing      Development         Total
	          $’000	   $’000 	                $’000               $’000

Revenue 
 Total revenue from external 
   customers	  576,820	 464,489	 185,126	 1,226,435

Depreciation	    5,776	     4,223	     1,780	      11,779
        
Segment profit	          86,296	   18,968	   21,182	    126,446

Impairment losses on available-for-
 resale financial assets				    (      8,450)
Share of results of associated
 company	  			   (    11,145)
Finance cost				    (      7,643)

Group profit before tax				        99,208

(Reductions)/additions (in)/to non-
  current assets	 ( 32,009)	 (   1,313)	   21,446	 (    11,876)

Reportable segments assets	 527,138	 51,033	 260,972	 839,143	
Investments in associate				    14,700
Deferred tax assets				           4,678

Total group assets				       858,521

Reportable segment liabilities	 184,536	  30,741	  44,599	 259,876
Long term liabilities				         11,283

Total group liabilities				       271,159
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5. 	 BUSINESS SEGMENTS (CONT’D):
  
                                         2012                              	
                                                   Rental & 

                                                                    	    Manufacturing      Retailing       Development       Total
	          $’000	   $’000 	                $’000              $’000

Revenue 
 Total revenue from external 
   customers	  459,180	 361,976	    3,376	 824,532

Depreciation	    5,980	    3,024	       984	    9,988
        
Segment profit/(loss)	           85,167	 (      439)	    1,151	  85,879

Impairment losses on of available-for-
  sale financial assets	      	      	     	 (  9,332)
Share of results of associated company				    (  8,361)
Finance cost				    (  1,289)

Group profit before tax				     66,897

(Reduction)/additions (in)/to
 non-current assets	 (  32,205)	  12,586	   55,837	  36,218 

Reportable segments assets	 430,079	  53,676	 155,257	 639,012
Investments in associates				    20,461
Deferred tax assets				       7,327

Total group assets				    666,800

Reportable segment liabilities	  77,496	  27,741	  14,307	 119,544
Long term liabilities				     35,677

Total group liabilities				    155,221

6. 	 REVENUE:

	 The Group
            	 2013	 2012
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Revenue arises from -
	         Export sales – manufacturing company	 292,864	 200,956	
	         Domestic sales – manufacturing company	 283,956	 258,224	
	        Retail sales 	 464,489	 361,976	
               Sale of Apartments	    181,475	    -     	
               Rental	       3,651	     3,376

			   1,226,435	 824,532	
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.6.	 REVENUE: (CONT’D):

The Company
            	 2013	 2012
		  $’000	 $’000
	 Revenue arises from - 
	 Export sales 	 292,864	 200,956			 
	 Domestic sales	  283,956	 258,224		
	

  			  576,820	 459,180		

7.	 OTHER INCOME:
						                   The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    

Interest income	 8,722	 11,847	 19,798	 11,987	
Rental Income   	 4,070	 -     	      2,749	 2,348	          
Dividend income	 3,204	 2,906	 3,204	      2,906	
Gain on sale of property, plant 
  and equipment	 568	 297	 568	      297	
(Loss)/gain on sale of investments	 (  5,126)	 9,601	  (  5,126)	     9,601 	
Impairment losses on available-for-
 sale financial assets 	 ( 8,450)	 ( 9,332)	     ( 8,450)	 ( 9,332)	      
Miscellaneous income	  1,718	   1,318	 10,764	  10,797	
			 
	  4,706	 16,637	 23,507	 28,604		

8.	 EXPENSES BY NATURE:

	 Total cost of sales, selling, administration and other operating expenses:

						                   The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    

Advertising and promotion	 24,005	 19,563	 22,085	 17,950	       
Auditors’ remuneration	 1,850	 1,290	 1,050	 720	           
  Prior year over provision	      -     	 (          5)	 -     	 -    	               
Directors’ emoluments:
  Remuneration	 9,877	 7,215	      9,877                 -    
  Fees	 1,007	 950	 1,007	 950
Cost of inventories recognised	
  as an expense                     	                920,930	 589,202	 384,158	    286,201	    
Depreciation	  11,823	  9,988	   5,776	 5,980	      
Insurance	 5,932	  4,998	    4,320	 3,746	      
Repairs and maintenance	    18,732	 13,833	  13,960	 12,088	      
Staff Costs (Note 10)                            	   74,340	 67,437	  46,673	       48,961	      
Utilities	     21,162	 19,147	  5,435	 5,582	           
Other expenses                                 	      31,642	  37,368	   17,760	     31,859	     	
     	  

                                                   	   1,121,300	   770,986	 512,101	      414,037	    	  
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9.	 FINANCE COSTS:
					                              The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    

            Interest expense	 7,643	 1,289	 6,603 	 45	      

10.	 STAFF COSTS:
					                            The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    
	  

Wages and salaries	 62,846	 59,936	 41,365	 44,155
Pension   	 914	 826	   914	 826
Other employment benefits	 10,580	   6,675	   4,394	  3,980		
     	
                      	 74,340	 67,437	 46,673	 48,961	  	
     		

11.	 TAXATION:

 	 Taxation is based on the profit for the year, adjusted for taxation purposes and comprises:-			 
		                       
						                  The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    

Current year income tax @ 25%	   1,375	 -    	 -   	 -   	     
Transfer tax	 1,591	 -    	 -   	 -   
Prior year under-provision	   -    	 354	 -   	      -   	
Deferred taxation	 2,649	 (8,118)	     -   	 (4,546)			 
	
		  5,615	 (7,764)	     -   	 (4,546)		

The company was listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange in July 2010 and under the 
Income Tax Act (Jamaica Stock Exchange Junior Market) (Remission) Notice, 2010 100% of income taxes 
will be remitted by the Minister of Finance during the first five years of listing on Junior Market (Phase one) 
of the Jamaica Stock Exchange and 50% of income taxes will be remitted by the  Minister of Finance 
during the second five years of listing on the Junior Market (Phase two) of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.
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11.	 TAXATION (CONT’D):

Reconciliation of theoretical tax charge that would arise on profit before tax using the 
applicable tax rate to actual tax charge.
	

					                              The Group 	                     The Company

	            2013	    2012	                 2013	           2012
	           $’000	   $’000	                $’000    	      $’000    

Profit before taxation	 99,208	 66,897	 93,172	 80,066			
	
Tax calculated at 25%/33 1/3% 	 24,802	 22,299	 31,057	 26,687	
Adjusted for the effects of:
  Expenses not deducted for tax 
   purposes	 14,123	 6,234	 7,919	   4,809	   
  Net effects of other charges and 
   allowances	 ( 7,807)	 (12,791)	 (13,473)	        (12,536)		
		

	 31,118	 15,742	 25,503	 18,960	
              Adjusted for the effects of tax 
               remission:	
                  Current tax	 ( 25,503)	 (23,506)	 (25,503)	 (23,506)	

	   5,615	 ( 7,764)	     -    	 ( 4,546)	
	
12.	 EARNINGS PER STOCK UNIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO STOCKHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:

Earning per stock unit is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to stockholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary stock units in issue.

	 2013	 2012

Net profit attributable to stockholders ($’000)	  93,593	 74,661	    
	 Weighted average number of ordinary stock units (‘000)	      168,708	 168,708	
	 Basic earnings per stock unit ($)	      0.55	      0.44		
		

The company has no dilutive potential ordinary shares.

13.	 DIVIDENDS:

	 2013	 2012
	 $’000    	 $’000    

Ordinary dividends - 		
Interim 5 cents per stock unit (2012 – 5 cents)	        8,435	 8,435	      

                Final nil (2012 – 5 cents)	   -     	  8,394		  
	 8,435	 16,829	
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14.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT:

	 The Group

	 	 Plant,   		
		  Equipment		
	 Land & 	 Furniture,	 Motor  	 Leasehold 
	       Building 	 & Fixtures	 Vehicles    	 Improvement	 Total
	   $’000   	 $’000  	 $’000 	 $’000	 $’000	 	

At cost:
             1 October 2012	       76,791	 66,141	 12,561	 8,568	 164,061
             Additions	 -    	      5,838	 6,774	      537	 13,149
             Disposal	         -    	    -     	 ( 6,400)	   -     	 (   6,400)

	 76,791	 71,979	 12,935	 9,105	 170,810
	

Depreciation:
              1 October 2012	 993	 26,047	 6,478	 4,842   	  38,360
              Charge for the year	         1,250	 6,854	 1,637	 2,038	 11,779
              Eliminated on disposal	    -     	    -     	 ( 3,438)	    -     	 (  3,438)

	  2,243	 32,901	  4,677	 6,880	  46,701
	              

Net Book Value:
              30 September 2013	 74,548	 39,078	  8,258	 2,225	 124,109	
					   
	
              30 September 2012	         75,798	 40,094	  6,083	       3,726	 125,701

	 The Company

		  Plant,   		
		  Equipment		
	 Land & 	 Furniture,	 Motor  	 Leasehold 
	 Building 	 & Fixtures	 Vehicles    	Improvement	 Total
	 $’000   	 $’000  	 $’000 	 $’000	 $’000	
	

At cost:
             1 October 2012		  45,943	 12,561	 2,064	 60,568
             Additions		  3,465	 6,774	 -     	 10,239
             Disposal		      -     	 ( 6,400)	   -     	 ( 6,400)
		
		  49,408	 12,935	 2,064	 64,407

Depreciation:
              1 October 2012	   	 22,932	 6,478	 1,800	    31,210   
              Charge for the year		  3,942	 1,637	 197	 5,776
              Eliminated on disposal		      -     	 ( 3,438)	     -   	 ( 3,438)  

		  26,874	  4,677	 1,997	 33,548
            Net Book Value:
              30 September 2013		  22,534	  8,258	      67	 30,859

              30 September 2012		  23,011	  6,083	           264	 29,358	
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15.	 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES:
			         			                   The Group                        The Company     
					               	           2013              2012	   2013		   2012

					              $’000	      $’000	  $’000		  $’000

At beginning of period	 30,000	 31,441	 30,000	 31,441
Change in fair value	 1,000	 ( 1,441)	 1,000	         (1,441)
Acquisition	 23,227	      -    	          -       	     -     

At 30 September	 54,227	 30,000	 31,000	 30,000	

The investment property as at September 2013 was valued at current market value by K.B. Real Estate 
Agents, Appraisers, Auctioneers and Consultants.

During the year $1,948,520 (2012 - $1,747,698) was recognised in the consolidated income statement in 
relation to rental of investment properties.  Direct operating expenses including repairs and maintenance 
amounted to $109,757.

16.	 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE:
	    	                          	                            The Group     	        The Company     
 		                                                                                      2013	            2012	          2013            2012
							             $’000	 $’000          $’000           $’000

                        Investment at beginning of year	 20,461	 21,509	 40,398	 33,085	
                        Share of results after tax	 (11,145)	 ( 8,361)	 -    	 -     	      
                        Additions	   5,384	  7,313	  5,384	   7,313	  

                        At end of year	 14,700	 20,461	 45,782	 40,398

The assets, liabilities, revenue and net profit of the associate are as follows:

		  2013	 2012
		   $’000          	$’000

	 Assets		  96,872	 93,998	
	 Liabilities		  (160,305)	 (134,675)	
	 Revenue		  394,362	 342,724	
	 Net loss		  (  22,736)	 ( 17,064)	
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17.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES:

	 The following transactions were carried out with related parties.

	 (a)	 Key management compensation –						    
			                                The Group     	              The Company     
 	  2013	  2012	         2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000    	 $’000    

                        Salaries and other short-term
                         employees benefits	 16,011	 12,969	 16,011	 11,902		

(b)	 Year-end balances with related companies
		                               		    	        The Company     
 		           				    2013 	 2012	
		           $’000		  $’000    	     
                        Receivable from subsidiaries -
                         	 H. Mahfood and Sons Ltd.	 206,393	 124,245	
	 JRG Shoppers Delite Enterprise Limited	   35,513	  23,500			 
	

		  241,906	 147,745	
	 Due to subsidiary –

                          JRG Shoppers Delite Enterprise Limited	    26,259	    2,222	
	

(c)	 Year-end balances with directors
	 	 2013	 2012
		  $’000    	 $’000
	 Amounts included in –
                            Receivables (note 21)	 1,312	 604	

Other loans (note 28)	 4,020	 15,216			 

	 (d)	 Transactions and balances with companies controlled by directors -

Transactions -
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000    	 $’000

                             Sale of goods	 226,430	 211,679	
                             Services rendered	   12,092	  11,110	

                         Balances –
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000    	 $’000
  
                           Amounts included in receivables (note 23)	 29,627	 25,052	
                           Amounts included in payables (note 27)	 ( 2,420)	 ( 2,413)		    
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17.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES:

	 The following transactions were carried out with related parties.

	 (a)	 Key management compensation –						    
			                                The Group     	              The Company     
 	  2013	  2012	         2013	 2012
	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000    	 $’000    

                        Salaries and other short-term
                         employees benefits	 16,011	 12,969	 16,011	 11,902		

(b)	 Year-end balances with related companies
		                               		    	        The Company     
 		           				    2013 	 2012	
		           $’000		  $’000    	     
                        Receivable from subsidiaries -
                         	 H. Mahfood and Sons Ltd.	 206,393	 124,245	
	 JRG Shoppers Delite Enterprise Limited	   35,513	  23,500			 
	

		  241,906	 147,745	
	 Due to subsidiary –

                          JRG Shoppers Delite Enterprise Limited	    26,259	    2,222	
	

(c)	 Year-end balances with directors
	 	 2013	 2012
		  $’000    	 $’000
	 Amounts included in –
                            Receivables (note 21)	 1,312	 604	

Other loans (note 28)	 4,020	 15,216			 

	 (d)	 Transactions and balances with companies controlled by directors -

Transactions -
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000    	 $’000

                             Sale of goods	 226,430	 211,679	
                             Services rendered	   12,092	  11,110	

                         Balances –
	 2013	 2012
	 $’000    	 $’000
  
                           Amounts included in receivables (note 23)	 29,627	 25,052	
                           Amounts included in payables (note 27)	 ( 2,420)	 ( 2,413)		    

			 

18.	 INVESTMENTS:
			                   The Group    	                The Company   

             	  2013	   2012               2013	     2012
		      $’000          $’000              $’000           $’000     

	 Available-for-sale at market value –
	 Government of Jamaica bonds		  59,977	 60,012	 59,977	 60,012	     
	 Corporate bonds			   -     	 28,422	 -     	 28,422	     	
           	             Quoted equities			   73,932	 80,985	 73,932	 80,985	
            Unquoted equities at cost 			   16,745	  15,746	       999	      -     
	
	 150,654	 185,165	 134,908	 169,419	

The weighted average effective interest rate at the year end was as follows.

	 	 2013	 2012
	 Government of Jamaica Bonds -
	          -  J$                                    	 7%	 12.38%		  
	 Corporate Bonds -
	          -  US$	   -   	  8.87%		                                           

19.	 DEFERRED TAXATION:
	
	 Deferred income taxes are calculated in full on temporary differences under the liability method using the 

principal tax rate of 25% (2012 – 33 1/3%).

	 The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period is as follows:

	 Deferred tax liabilities – 
			                       The Group     		            The Company   
   
             	       2013	 2012            2013	           2012
		       $’000            $’000           $’000          $’000     

	 Accelerated tax depreciation -	
               At beginning of year	 -   	 (4,546)	 -    	         (4,546)	   
               Income statement credit	  -   	 4,546	    -    	      4,546	    
               
               At end of year	  -   	      -    	    -    	            -    	     	

	 Deferred tax assets – The Group
			         Accelerated	                           2013	           2012
             	       Tax               Tax	              Total	           Total
		   Depreciation       Loss           $’000	           $’000
		   
               At beginning of year	           1,344	  5,983	 7,327	 3,755		  
               Income statement (charge)/credit	            3,334	 (5,983)	 (2,649)	 3,572		  

               At end of year	 4,678	    -    	 4,678	 7,327
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19.	 DEFERRED TAXATION CONT'D:

	 Deferred tax charge in income statement – 
			                      The Group     		            The Company   
   
             	       2013	 2012             2013	          2012
		       $’000              $’000           $’000         $’000     
	
             Decrease in deferred tax liabilities	 -   	     (4,546)	     -    	       (4,546)
             Decrease in deferred tax assets	 (2,649)	 (3,572)	    -    	   -     		
	 (2,649)	 (8,118)	    -    	 (4,546)		

20.	 INVENTORIES:
			                      The Group     	   	          The Company     
   
             	    2013	       2012             2013	          2012
		    $’000             $’000            $’000         $’000     

	 Manufacturing:	
              Machine spares	 5,528	 4,800 	 5,528	 4,800	     
              Finished goods		 35,649 	 36,145	 35,649	 36,145	
	   Raw materials		  71,919	  54,829	        71,919	 54,830	     

				    113,096	 95,774	 113,096	 95,775	
            Retail  			   43,474	 35,578	 -     	 -     

	 Development:
	   Housing under construction	 -     	 60,228	 -     	 -     
	   Housing units completed 	  20,126	      -     	      -     	     -     

				    176,696	 191,580	 113,096	 95,775
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21.	 RECEIVABLES:
			               The Group    	                  The Company   

             	   2013               2012                2013	             2012
		  $’000              $’000               $’000             $’000     

             Trade receivables	 209,002	 71,912	 102,885	 71,696	
             Deposit	    37,712	 1,993  	 23,885	 1,489	      
	  Receivable - director	      1,312	 705	 1,312	    605	      
             Prepaid expenses	 15,854	 9,771	  15,513	 6,842	  
             Short term loan receivable	 11,665	 8,654	 10,723	 8,027	
             Other receivables	     3,946	       7,308	    2,198	   5,607

		  279,491	 100,343	 156,516	 94,266

Trade receivables balance at the end of the year, approximately $65.4 million (2012 - $25.6 million) is due 
from the company’s largest customers and are in the approved credit limit.  There are no other customers 
who represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade receivables.  The company does not hold any 
collateral over trade receivables balances.

	 The aging of trade receivables is as follows:	
								                          
  					                        The Group       	            The Company     
					                   2013	            2012	          2013              2012
					         	$’000	           $’000  	         $’000             $’000

	 0-30 days	 178,112	 52,479	 74,768	 52,263	
	 31-60 days	 5,352	 10,773	 5,237	 10,773	
	 61-90 days	 11,350	   8,660	 11,314	  8,660	
                     Over 90 days	  14,188	     -     	  11,566	     -     

		  209,002	 71,912	 102,885	 71,696	

22.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
			              The Group       	                  The Company     

             	  2013           	  2012                2013	       2012
		  $’000              $’000               $’000              $’000     
	  
            Cash in hand	 1,802	 712  	   1,117	 169	      
            Cash at bank	 91,841	 6,477	 83,822	 6,359	

		  93,643	 7,189	 84,939	 6,528	
	 Bank overdraft (unsecured)	 (46,574)	 (5,972)	 (30,791)	     -     	

		  47,069	 1,217	 54,148	 6,528
	 		
	 Interest rate exposure -

The weighted average effective interest rate at the year end was as follows:

	 	 2013	 2012
	 Cash at bank  - US$	 0.20%	 0.55%	
	                        - CAD$	 0.20%	 0.30%		
                                    - Sterling £	 0.25%	 0.50%	                



60

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 SEPTEMBER 2013

 AR2013 JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

23.	 SHARE CAPITAL:
									                             2013	               2012 
									                            $’000   	           $’000   
	 Authorised -
              250,000,000 (2012 – 250,000,000) ordinary shares of no
              par value
	
	 Stated capital - 
	 Issued and fully paid ordinary shares of no par value 
	  168,708,365 (2012 – 168,708,365)	 141,420	 141,420
		
	 At the Annual General Meeting held on 2 March 2011, the stockholders passed a resolution for 16,000,000 

of the authorised but unissued shares to be set aside as part of a stock option plan for directors and a 
stock purchase plan for employees in two tranches of 8 million shares between 30 June 2012, and 30 June 
2021 subject to certain conditions.  The directors’ options are exercisable in amounts of 200,000 shares 
per annum in whole or in part within five years of June 2012 in whole or in part.  The price to be paid for the 
first tranche when exercised is $7 per share payable in full at the time the option is exercised.  The second 
tranche will come into effect immediately after the first option period ends.  The pricing for the second 
tranche will be determined at the annual general meeting preceding the start date.  Staff members will be 
allowed to purchase shares set aside for them at a 10 percent discount to the last stock market selling 
price and the date the offer is taken up.  They will be given a specific time in each year in which to take up 
the offer, and interest free loans for a three year term to acquire the shares.  

24.	 CAPITAL RESERVES:
		                								              2013 	  	   2012 
									                            $’000              $’000   
           This represents realised surplus arising on –
             Disposal of property, plant and equipment 	 6,759	 6,759               
             Waiver of directors' loans 	 229	 229                  
             Disposal of investments 	      71	      71                	
			   7,059	 7,059	    	
25.	 FAIR VALUE RESERVES:

	 This represents unrealised deficit on revaluation of investments.

26.	 LONG TERM LIABILITIES:

		                                                                      The Group          	                  The Company   

                                                                             2013              2012                  2013	             2012
					                $’000             $’000                 $’000              $’000     
		      
            Inter-American Bank	      10,738	 25,384	      10,738	 25,384
            Vendor’s mortgage	 28,261	 38,435	     -     	     -     
		  38,999	 63,819	 10,738	 25,385	
            Less current portion	 (27,716)	 (28,142)	 (10,738)	 (14,325)	

		  11,283	 35,677	     -     	     11,060	

	 The Inter-American Bank loan is repayable over three years ending April 2014, at an interest rate of 6.09%.  
It is secured by Government of Jamaica bonds with a nominal value of $54 million and personal guarantee 
of a director.

	 The vendor’s mortgage is repayable over three years ending March 2015 at an interest rate of 5%.  It is 
secured by the property located at 9 Chancery Street, St. Andrew.
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27.	 PAYABLES:

		                                                                     The Group       	                     The Company     

                                                                             2013              2012                  2013	              2012
	                                                                $’000             $’000                 $’000             $’000     
	
             Trade payables	 45,748	 35,697	 22,649	 7,971	
             Other payables                           	 21,336	 16,216	   3,402	  14,489	  		
			 
                                                   	 67,084	 51,913	 26,051	   22,460		
	

28.	 SHORT TERM BORROWINGS:

		                                                                      The Group       	                    The Company     

	                                    	 2013  	             2012	 2013	 2012
		                                                     $’000	              $’000	 $’000	 $’000
	
	 National Commercial Bank
 	  Jamaica Limited 	 30,000	 -     	 15,000	 -     
	 Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica
	  Limited	 80,000	 -     	 80,000	 -     
	 Mayberry Investments Limited	 46,308	      24,273	 46,308	      24,273	
            Other loans 	 8,220	 15,216	 6,444	 15,216	
	 Current portion of long term 	
             loans (note 26)	   27,716	 28,142	  10,738	 14,325			
	               
		  192,244	 67,631	 158,490	 53,814	

		 The National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited loans are payable within one year at an 
	 interest rate of 11% and are secured by a personal guarantee of a director.

	 The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited loan is repayable in three months at an interest rate 
	 of 8.5%.  It is secured by a fixed deposit.  Subsequent to the year end the repayment period of 

	the loan was re-negotiated to five years, and a first legal mortgage over commercial property located at 2 
Bell Road, Industrial Estate.

	The Mayberry Investments Limited loan is repayable within one year at an interest rate of 13%.  This loan 
is 	secured by quoted equity investments held by the institution with a market value of $71 million.

	
	 The other loans are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed repayment terms.

29.	 COMMITMENTS:

	 The total future value of minimum lease payments due is $7,046,856 as follows:

		  $    
		  In financial year:
                               2014	     5,959,105
	                 2015	 1,087,751
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30.	 SUBSEQUENT EVENT:

	In October 2013, the company issued a $200 million corporate bond to be floated for four years with 
interest paid monthly.  During the first two years, interest will be fixed at 8.5% per annum and thereafter, 
the coupon rate will vary according to the one month treasury bill and a reset margin of 2.5% points. At the 
time of closure of the issue an amount of $104 million was received.

Jamaican Teas Limited signed an agreement to purchase Orchid Estates in Yallahs for $63 million, the 
construction has been approved for 71 two-bedroom houses on which work should commence for the 
first units in 2014.

Jamaican Teas Limited is in the process of purchasing a commercial property located at 2 Bell Road, 
Industrial Estate at a cost of $87,985,000 and the company will relocate its warehouse and business 
operation in February 2014.





FORM OF PROXY
JAMAICAN TEAS LIMITED

I/We……………………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………………...... 

of ………………………………………………………………………………………………………………

…………………………………………..

being a member/members of Jamaican Teas Limited hereby appoint

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

…………………………………………...........................................................................................

of ……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………............................................................................................................................

or failing him/her……………………………………………………………………………………………

………………………………….........

of……………………………………………………………………………………………………………..

………………………………………..

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held on Wednesday May 28th and at any adjournment thereof.

Signed this……………………………………………. day of…………………………………..20……

………………………………………………….............Signature		

…………………………………………………………...Signature

NOTE: To be valid:

1)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the meeting is entitled to appoint a proxy to 	
		 attend and vote in his/her stead.  A proxy need not be a member of the company. 

2)	 If executed by a corporation, this proxy must be sealed. A Corporate shareholder 		
	 may appoint a representative in accordance to Article of the company’s Articles of 		
	 Association instead of appointing a proxy.

3)	 This Form of Proxy must be received by the Registrar of the Company, 7 Norman Road 	
	 Kingston CSO not less than 48 hours before the time of the meeting.

4)	 This Form of Proxy should bear stamp duty of $100.00.  Adhesive stamps are to be 		
	 cancelled by the person signing the proxy.

Place 

$100.00

stamp here
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